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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Capron-Phillips House is an asymmetrical, three-story, clapboard, hipped 
roof Italianate house with a square, two-story wing to the rear and an ell- 
shaped barn. It is located on the southeast corner of Main and Mason 
streets in the center of the village of South Coventry, Connecticut. (photo 
graph 1.)

South Coventry grew up as a 19th-century mill town and has seen little 20th- 
century development. Mason Street leads from Main Street, formerly known 
as the Hartford-Willimantic Turnpike, to the sites of the mills. The Meth­ 
odist Church, in the Romanesque Revival style, is across Mason Street from 
the house, and beyond it is the Congregational Church, with a typical New_ 
England spire. (Photograph 2.) A 19th-century store and hotel continue in 
operation across Main Street to the west. An early 20th-century, Neo­ 
classical Revival "library is directly across Main Street from' the Capron- ;i 
Phillips House. The house itself contributed to the village center's 
activities for many decades by serving as the Post Office and drug store.

Exterior

The 38 x 38-foot main block of the house has a hip roof with two gables. 
One gable is the roof of a 16-foot-wide pavilion that projects at the 
right side of the facade. A one-story porch occupies the balance of the 
facade to the left. The front door is at the right end of the porch, in 
the center of the facade. The porch is balanced by a rectangular, one- 
story bay on the front of the pavilion. (Photograph 3.)

The fenestration of the facade at the third-story level^consists of ( a 
Palladianesque window in the attic of the pavilion. Its three sections 
have round arches, the central window with 2-over-2 sash and the flanking 
windows with 1-over-l. At the second floor the pavilion has'paired 4-over- 
4 windows, and at the first floor the rectangular bay, .which is almost en­ 
tirely glazed. The front of the bay has four large'panes with narrow mun- 
tins, and each side of the bay has two panes. There are recessed molded 
panels below the glazing, two in front and one on each side, over the brick 
foundation walls. The east wall of the pavilion, facing the porch, has 
two narrow windows, a tall, 4-over-6 pattern at the first floor reaching 
from the floor almost to the ceiling and 4-over-4 at the second floor.

The nearly flat hip roof of the porch is supported by three pairs of octa­ 
gonal posts with molded capitals connected by round arches. The porch 
railing has square spindles arcaded by a scroll-saw keyhole pattern. The 
ceiling is flush boarding, while in the front skirt, below the level of 
the floor, spindles alternate with saw teeth.

The central door has a large pane of glass over two vertical, oval, re­ 
cessed, molded panels. The transom bar is a thumb molding, and there is a 
rectangular transom light. The door enframement, identical to the window 
enframements, is molded. The porch window to the left of the door is tall,
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in 6-over-9 pattern, the same height as the 4-over-6 window in the porch 
wall of the pavilion, but wider by one light. 6-over-6 windows are placed 
in the second floor over the first-floor window and over the door.

The roof has a substantial overhang that is supported by brackets and 
modillions of similar curved shapes. At the exterior corners the brackets
are paired. Four single brackets separated by two modillions support the 
main roof overhang above the porch. The bottom of the brackets are con­ 
nected by a molding and the wall areas over the molding between the 
brackets is flat boarding, in effect a plain fascia. The projecting edge 
of the roof is a cyma recta molding. Paired brackets support the returns 
of the pavilion gable, while there are modillions under each slope of the 
gable. (Photograph 4.) The roof of the bay overhangs, and its leading 
edge is molded. On the front of the bay there are paired brackets at 
left and right, and a single bracket in the center. These brackets are 
similar to those at the main roof overhang, but smaller. On the sides of 
the bay there are paired brackets toward the front, consistent with the 
scheme of paired brackets at exterior corners, and a single bracket near 
the wall of the facade. The porch roof overhang is supported by three 
pairs of brackets, over the posts, intermediate in size between the roof 
and bay brackets. A single modillion is in the center of each pair, and 
six modillions separate the pairs.

The east elevation has three 4-over-4 windows at both first and second 
stories, over one another, but not evenly spaced front to back. The 
central window is closer to the front than to the back. There are attic 
windows in the frieze above, consisting of two panes, side by side. 
Single attic windows are placed over the front and back lower story win­ 
dows, while paired windows occupy the central position. There are single 
brackets at left and right of each opening, and paired brackets near the 
corners of the house. Basement windows in the brick foundation walls are 
placed under the attic windows, and have the same glazing pattern. A 
molded brick chimney is visible on this side of the house. The corner 
boards of the house are narrow and plain, as is the board at the bottom 
of the clapboards.

The west elevation has a second gabled pavilion on the right (south) 
although it projects only two fieet, half the distance of its facade 
counter-part. It has the same Palladianesque attic window, and the same 
paired windows at the second floor. At the first floor it has a conven­ 
tional three-sided, semi-hexagonal bay with 4-over-4 windows in each face. 
The enframement on the sides and. top of each window is a simple torus mold­ 
ing. The walls of the bay are flush boarding, with panels below the win­ 
dows formed by raised moldings. The roof projects, but without brackets.
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The portion of the west elevation toward the front of the house has two- 
4-over-4 windows at first and second floors with attic and basement windows 
over and below them., and roof overhang with brackets corresponding to the 
arrangement on the east elevation.

In addition., there is an added central entrance, approached by steps and 
a small porch. The nearly-flat hip roof of the porch is supported by 
plain posts and by elaborate, scroll-saw brackets on either side of the 
door. The roof extends north half way across the lintel of the adjoining 
window. Each of the tall double doors has two panes of glass, one over 
the other, above a recessed molded panel. (Photograph 5-)

Most of the rear (south) elevation is taken up by the two-story wing, but 
the roof of the wing is below.the roof overhang of the main block. Thus, 
the scheme of brackets and modillions for the main roof overhang continues 
across the back. As the wing is smaller than the main block, there is some 
wall surface in the rear elevation of the main block on either side of the 
wing. To the west of the wing there is a 4-over-4 window at both first 
and second stories. To the east of the wing there is a tall 6-bver-9 
window at first floor level, a 6-over-6 window in the second story, and a 
three-pane attic window. The windows on the rear elevation have flat 
surrounds rather than the molded surrounds of all other windows in the 
main block.

The chief architectural feature of the 24 x 24-foot wing is the porch on 
its east elevation. The flat porch roof is supported by three free-stand­ 
ing square posts plus one next to the rear elevation of the main block and 
one next to the east elevation of the wing. The tops of the posts have 
scroll-saw brackets. The roof extends and the extension is supported by 
a modillion over each of the four easterly posts. In the east elevation 
wall, protected by the porch, there are two 6-over-6 windows, in the center 
and toward the southland a door toward the main block (north). The door is 
not original but its surround is original, and it has a three-pane transom 
of vertical lights. In the second story, over the porch, there are three 
6-over-6 windows. All window enframements in the wing are plain. (Photo­ 
graph 6. )

The wing's west elevation has two windows at each level, one over the other. 
In the first floor they are 6 over-6. In the second floor one, toward the 
main block (north), Is a 6-over-6 and the other 4-over-4. In the basement 
they are composed of three panes, side by side. The fenestration of the 
rear (south) elevation is irregular. In the first story there is a door 
at the extreme left (west), and next to it a 6-over-6 window, while the 
rest of the wall is solid. In the second story there is a 2-over-2 window 
over the first-floor window, and to the right (east) a 6-over-6 window.
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A central, interior chimney rises against the rear wall although its top 
is not visible. The roof of the wing overhangs on all three sides, sup­ 
ported by by modillions.

Interior

The first floor of the main block, with ceiling height of 10 feet 9 inches, 
and the second floor of the main block, with ceiling height of 9 feet, 
have the same symmetrical floor plan of central hall with two rooms on 
either side. Initially, the two rooms were divided by twin chimneys with 
back-to-back fireplaces, but soon after the house was built the west 
chimney was removed. The partition between the two west first-floor 
rooms was also removed, creating a large, single space entered from 
outdoors by the added west doorway. The partition with its two fire­ 
places was replaced with a wide segmental arch. The west rooms already 
were larger than the east rooms because of the pavilions. Thrown together, 
with the two bay windows, they are an impressive, well-lighted space. 
The west rooms have more elaborate trim than the east rooms. Their plaster 
cornice moldings are elaborate indeed, consisting of torus, scotia and ovolo 
moldings against both the ceiling and the wall. (Photograph 7-) Both 
rooms have plaster ceiling medallions, that in the front room being diamond 
shaped. (Photograph 8.)

In the front room, the surrounds of the door to the hall, the windows 
and the bay are identical, with two parallel moldings. The exterior door 
has a plain flat surround. In the back room, the enframements have a single 
molding and are the same for doors, window and bay. There Is a panel under 
each 4-over-4 window, above the floor. The nine-Inch baseboard is molded.

The east rooms are notable for their carved white marble fireplace sur­ 
rounds and cast-iron fireboxes and grilles. (Photpgraph 9-) The common 
fireplace wall is quite thick, and provides room for closets flanking the 
fireplaces. The cornice moldings are simpler than in the west rooms, while 
the aperture surrounds are the same as those in the west rear room.

The stairs rise north-to-south, against the west wall of the hall. Two 
turned spindles per tread support the molded handrail. The railing flares 
out at the bottom of the stairs, where the steps are wider, while at the too 
it returns back toward the front of the house with a right angle to the wall 
protecting the stair well. '

The west rooms on the second floor have back-to-back false wooden fireplace 
surrounds. Technically, they are not back-to-back because the space from 
which the chimney was removed, that serves as a large closet, Is between 
them. The rear room has the original marble hearth in front of its false 
wooden fireplace surround. The back-to-back fireplaces in the east rooms
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have been closed up, but the wooden mantels are in place. The marble 
hearths are missing, although one has been found in the attic.

On both floors, all the interior doors have four recessed panels on both 
sides.

Stairs to the attic from the second floor run from the hall south (back) 
of the main stairway. The attic stairs have square balusters of small 
cross section that again, at the attic floor level, continue as a balu­ 
strade around the stairway opening. The walls of the house rise above the 
level of the attic floor, providing for the attic windows, and then the 
framing for the hip roof and gables begins. This framing, visible on 
the east side of the attic, is fastened by nails; there are no mortise- 
and-tenon joints. The west side of the attic is finished with plaster 
walls and ceilings, and divided into several rooms. The roof boards 
visible on the east side are fitted together without gaps. Initially, a 
metal roof covering was laid on .the top of the boards. (Photograph 10.) 
The roof is now asphalt shingles. The east chimney is stepped or battered 
south to north as it passes through the attic.

The roomy basement is 8 feet 6 inches high. The brick foundation walls 
visible on the exterior are seen on the interior to rise from about the 
frost line. The foundations are rubble stone below that level. There are 
brick partitions with segmental openings for doorways. Several square 
brick posts support the first floor, and two oblong brick piers support 
the east fireplaces and chimney. Corresponding piers are still in place 
on the west, although they no longer support a chimney. Under the south­ 
east corner of the main block there is a large room with brick walls on 
the north and west, of unexplained purpose. The foundations do not break 
out under the bays.

In the rear wing, the first floor is given over to a large kitchen, with 
pantries. The brick interior chimney against the south wall is visible 
In the kitchen. The second floor of the wing is an apartment., As ceiling 
heights in the wing are lower than in the main block, there are two steps 
down at second floor level going from the main block to the wing. The 
back stairs are just behind the main block. They run east to west, up 
from an entry inside the east porch.

The first and second stories of the main block have hardwood floors, in­ 
stalled about a decade ago. The kitchen has a floor of boards about four 
inches wide, laid on the diagonal. The exterior walls of the main block 
and the wing have brick nogging from the foundations to the height of the 
second floor ceilings.

Substantially all of the hardware in the house appears to be original, in­ 
cluding doorknobs, hinges, and window catches. The bronze doorknobs have 
an elaborate, raised star pattern.
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Outbuilding

The 1^-story, ell-shaped, gable roofed barn was built in two sections. 
The first, 15 x 30-foot section, with ridge line perpendicular to Mason 
Street, has board-and-batten siding and corrugated metal roof. The south 
slope of the- roof and board-and-batten siding are visible on the interior 
in the second story, at the point where the second section was joined to 
the first. The west gable end of the first section, facing Mason Street, 
has a 2-over-2 window. The north elevation, facing the house, has an old 
door with a four-pane window over two horizontal panels, and a modern 
multi-pane window. The east end has a 6-over-6 window under a diamond- 
shaped gable window of four panes. The south elevation of the east end 
of the first section has a small 6-over-6 window.

The second, 20 x 30-foot section of the barn has flush, vertical siding. 
The roof, with its ridge line parallel with Mason Street, is covered with 
bitumen and roofing paper. There is a central cross gable over a modern 
entrance, as the barn is now used as a store. The entrance surround 
appears to be original. Its size suggests that originally there were 
double barn doors. There is a large door with crossed battens in the 
gable, perhaps a hay door or a goods door. There is a 2-over-2 window 
in the first story, south of the entrance. All apertures in this section 
have caps of flat plank over moldings. (Photograph 11.)

In the south elevation, first floor, there are paired 1-over-l rectangular 
windows under a common lintel. This treatment is repeated in the gable 
above, but with round arches for the windows. At the sill level of this 
gable window there is a saw-tooth dividing line that connects the ends 
of the eaves. The saw teeth are the pointed ends of an extra layer of 
boards on the gable end. (Photograph 12.) The saw-tooth effect is remi­ 
niscent of the skirt below the front porch of the house As the ground 
slopes off to the east, the stone foundations of the barn are visible at 
the south elevation. The east elevation has a central, exterior, cinder 
block chimney, flanked by 2-over-2 windows.

When the second section was built,its gable roof was carried through 
(north of) the ridge line of the first section, and thus appears as a 
small, cross gable on the north elevation. There is a bull's eye window 
in this gable end.

The interior second floor of the second section appears to be original. 
On the theory that the large door in the gable was for hay, it would be 
expected to find provision on the Interior of apertures in the floor 
through which hay could be pitched to the horses below. But the floor is 
solid, without openings, giving rise to the postulate that this second 
section was not a barn or a carriage house but perhaps was a warehouse 
for goods storage. (Photograph 13-)
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Criteria

The Capron-Phillips House is a fine example of the Italianate style of 
architecture that has survived with remarkably few changes since the time 
of , the Civil. War. 3oth,its exterior and interior features are character­ 
istic of the style. (Criterion C. ) The fact that the house served for 
five decades as South Coventry's Post Office and drug store enhances its 
interest and gives it a special place in the community's history.

Architecture

the various components of the Capron-Phillips House from its basic 
plan to its decorative details consistently exemplify the Italianate style. 
On the exterior, the asymmetrical mass, the roof overhang with supporting 
brackets and the -windows immediately establish the style. Paired windows, 
floor- to-ceiling windows, round-headed windows and bay windows all were im­ 
portant to the Italianate style, and all are found in the Capron-Phillips 
House. The two porches, especially the front porch with its paired columns, 
add to the statement.

On the interior, .the characteristics of the Italianate style include the 
elaborate ceiling medallions and ornate cornices of the west first-floor 
rooms. The heavy, molded door and window enframements are typical. WTnile 
it is tantalizing not to know the nature of the original fireplaces in the 
west first-floor rooms, as they probably were the most elaborate in the 
house, the marble mantels of the east rooms, with round-headed fireplace 
openings and keystones, support the style.

In addition to the stylistic features of the house two other elements of 
unusual interest are the difference between the two bay windows and the 
presence of the brick nogging. The contrast between the shapes of the two 
bays is striking. The west bay is conventional, while the front bay with 
its square corners and almost complete glazing is unexpected. The explana­ 
tion, of course, is that the front bay was built as a store window. If not 
original, it was built within 15 years of the construction of the house. 
It may have been part of the alterations that included removing the west 
chimney and introducing the west entrance, all of which had to do with in­ 
creasing the convenience for non- residential use of the west side of the 
first floor.

Brick nogging as infill between the studs was used in the medieval tradi­ 
tion, although framing in the medieval tradition was not followed.
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Although the balloon frame was well established by the time of the Civil 
War, it was not unusual for heavy roof framing such as is found in the 
Capron-Phillips House to be executed with the old mortise-and-tenon 
joints. In this house, however, the old method was eschewed.

On the other hand, brick nogging infill of the spaces between the studs 
in the walls was used, even though it was a 17th-century practice that had 
largely ceased to be used in the l8th, or at the latest, early 19th cen­ 
tury. The practice of infilling with brick or clay or other hard sub­ 
stance had its start in medieval England, where the material often was 
left exposed to the weather. In the colonies the practice was continued, 
although an exterior sheathing, such as clapboards, soon was found to be 
desirable. The reason why the use of nogging continued Is obscure. If 
the colonists had any functional purpose in mind such as Insulation, 
which is possible, or, more romantically, protection against the musketry 
of hostile Indians, no contemporary reference to It has been found.
It may be that the brick nogging was used simply because the Capron-Phillips 
House is a substantial structure, but the matter is uncertain.

History

The land on which the Capron-Phillips House stands was sold by Walter A. 
Loomis , a man prominent in the affairs of mid-19th-century South Coventry, 
for $500 to George W. Capron (1820-190?) of Coventry on August 7, 1863- 3 
Five years later, on March 19, 1868, Capron mortgaged the land, building, 
and household furnishings for $4,600 to David W. Huntington, another well- 
known local citizen. The house was built sometime during this five-year 
period. The inventory of household goods listed In the mortgage gives no 
hint that the property was being used for any other than residential pur­ 
poses at that time.

Ten years later, Capron paid off the Huntington mortgage November 16, 
1878.5 Three months later, on February 6, 1879, Capron sold the property 
to the Savings Bank of Tolland. The deed gives no hint as to the reason 
for the sale. George W. Capron- s name is not mentioned in the standard 
histories of Tolland County and Coventry. His name does not appear in 
directories which began to be published about 1890, although he is buried 
in the Nathan Hale Cemetery, Coventry. He remains an enigma.

A "View" of South Coventry published in 1878 (Figure 14), shows the house 
and labels it as the Post Office. Thus, it is necessary to conclude that 
non-residential use of the house began under the first ownership. Unfor­ 
tunately, the "View" does not show the west facade and therefore is of no
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help in determining whether the west entrance was in place by 1878. The 
possibility exists that the west chimney and the first floor west fire­ 
places had been removed by that time. The "View" does show the barn, 
first section, with ridge line perpendicular to Mason Street, and es­ 
tablishes that the second section was built after 1878.

Three weeks after buying the property from Capron, the Savings Bank of n 
Tolland sold it, on March 1, 1878, to Garcilla Moore Phillips (1853-1930). 
She and her estate owned the house until 1933, and her heirs until 195^, 
operating it as a drug store and the Post Office for most of that time. 
As the Phillipses built the addition on the barn, perhaps as storage space 
for merchandise- sold in the drug store, they may have made all the alter­ 
ations. Under this theory the property assumed its present form soon 
after 1879-

Directories from 1890 onward show that the Phillipses lived in South 
Coventry and presumably in the house where they had the Post Office and 
drug store. Whether Capron actually lived in the house is uncertain.

The 1897 Willimantic directory lists George L. Phillips (1846-1897), 
husband of Garcilla, druggist and postmaster, South Coventry, George N. 
Phillips, assistant postmaster, and Louis M. Phillips (1877-1953), clerk 
at G. L. Phillips (store). In 1900 the directory lists George N. Phillips, 
postmaster, stationery, patent medicines, etc. The 1912 Coventry bicen­ 
tennial program noted that "The South Coventry Post Office is in the drug g 
store conducted by L. M. Phillips at the corner of Main and Mason Streets." 
In an accompanying photograph, the trolley track is seen running along the 
north side of Main Street. The 1932 directory lists George N. Phillips 
"postmaster and conf." but in 1936 only as "conf." Thus, the house served 
as the Post Office from before 1878 to after 1932.

Subsequent to the 1953 death of Louis M. Phillips, the house was sold In 
195^ to the Congregational .Church and then to other owners. Over the 
ensuing years It has been used for Sunday School classrooms, a doctor's 
office, bookstore, dance studio, pottery, and rooming house. It is now 
being restored by new owners as their home.

Summary

The architectural interest of the Capron-Phillips House stems
from its both interior and exterior expression of the Italianate style The 
absence of change in the house over the years, on both the exterior and in­ 
terior, enhances its value for study.
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The principal change that did occur in the house was accomplished within 
15 years of its construction when one chimney was removed and the ground 
floor west side was made into a single large space for use as the Post 
Office and as a drug store. In these capacities, the house was a central 
meeting place for the South Coventry community for more than half a 
century. ;

1.
Among contemporary Connecticut structures with mortise-and-tenon 

roof framing are the Hendrick-Welch House, 80 Washington Street, 
Forrestville section of Bristol (1853), and the warehouse at Steamboat 
Dock, east end of Main Street, Essex (1878).

2.
Cummings, p. 139-

3.
Coventry Land Records (CLR), volume 24, page 415. This deed notes 

the dimensions of the lot as 85 x 268 feet. The dimensions now are 
80 x 235 feet.

4.
CLR 25/326.

5.
CLR 27/432.

6.
CLR 27/446.

7-
CLR 26/430.

8.
Historic Sketch, p. 27-
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